FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 10/9/2024 12:17 PM Supreme Court No. FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/5/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1038496

Court of Appeal No. 388778 Consolidated with No. 390641

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAULA S. NEIS, Trustee of the Daniel L. NEIS Revocable Trnst, and Paula S. NEIS and GLORIA RAE FRASER, Respondents

vs.

HOWARD WOOLLETT and PETRIA WOOLLETT, Petitioner

HOWARD AND PETRIA WOOLLETT'S PETIFION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Howard and Petria Woollett (collectively "Woollett"), ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of <u>Paula S. Neis, et al. v. Howard</u> <u>Woollett et at.</u> Case #388788, hereafter "Opinion" as it relates to the award of attorney fees and costs on appeal to Appellant Fraser. Petitioner Woollett filed their Motion for Reconsideration which was denied on September 10, 2024. A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix at pages 32 - 63. A copy of the Order denying Petitioners Motions for Reconsideration is in the Appendix at page 80.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals improperly apply RCW
 7.28.083 and abuse its discretion by determining Appellant

Fraser was the prevailing party on appeal when Fraser did not obtain any substantive relief.

2. Did the Court of Appeals misapply Washington law and commit an error of law by awarding Appellant Fraser attorney fees on appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. A Factual Overview of The Underlying Dispute.

Despite the fact Ms. Neis received what she contracted for, her allegations placed the Woolletts in a position where they were forced to proceed to confirm that if there was an issue that due to adverse possession, they actually owned, and by law had transferred the real property on which the shed, parking area, and carport were located. As explained at trial, the area at issue is defined by concrete retaining walls which have been located in the same spot since at least 1976.

The evidence at trial showed the area where Woollett had used the shed, parked and placed their carport had all been adversely possessed long before Ms. Neis purchased the real property. Therefore, to defend against Ms. Neis' claims and to mitigate the alleged damages, the Woolletts brought their claim of adverse possession to confirm that if there was an issue then title to those portions of the Fraser property had vested long ago through adverse possession. One of the key aspects of adverse possession, especially when considered in the context of an easement, is the use. In such situations, the element of exclusive and hostile use is determined by analyzing whether the use is a type of use that shows the exercise of ownership over the property. Here, the easement at issue was for use as a right of way easement. "Right of way" is defined as the "right to pass over land of another." The retaining walls, which have been in place since at least 1976, prevent the use of this portion of the easement area as a right of way and resulted in the area being used exclusively as it would by an Owner – namely for the location of the shed, a carport and parking that was only used by the Woollett's and their predecessors.

The evidence confirmed that 10 years of adverse possession had occurred prior to Mr. Fraser purchasing his property in 1996. From 1976-1986, when the property was owned by the Richards the property at issue (that within the retaining walls) were exclusively used for the shed and parking. The retaining walls prevented this area from being used as a right of way. The same was true from 1986-1996; from 1996-2006 and from 2006-2017.

Within these timeframes, the Woolletts put a carport on the property, continuously used a storage shed located on the property, maintained the property, stored personal items on the property, parked their vehicles on the property, and allowed their guests to park on the property. The Frasers had notice of this use, and it was inconsistent with and prevented the area from being used for a right of way easement. The evidence at trial established that the property was used for more than 41 years by the Woolletts and their predecessors in a manner that resulted in title being transferred by adverse possession. As the successor

in interest, Ms. Neis was entitled to have that title quieted since it transferred prior to her possession.

While Woollett believe the Trial Court erred by dismissing their adverse possession claim, the Trial Court properly exercised its discretion by determining that based on all the facts surrounding the litigation, that it would not be just and equitable to award attorney fees and costs against the Woolletts. The Trial Court properly applied RCW 7.28.083 and did not abuse its discretion in refusing to award attorney fees and costs against the Woolletts.

B. Division III Unpublished Opinions.

In the April 2, 2024 Opinion, the Court remanded to the trial court to enter more detailed findings on its exercise of discretion to deny attorney fees to the Frasers. The Court exercised its discretion to decline an award of attorney fees to the Woolletts against the Frasers under RCW 7.28.083(3). Neis and Fraser both filed a Motion for Reconsideration.

In the July 18th, 2024 Order the Court withdrew its April 2, 2024 Opinion, considered Frasers' motion for reconsideration and the Woollett's answer thereto in which it granted Frasers reconsideration and ordered that Fraser was the prevailing party on appeal and awarding attorney fees. This despite the fact that Fraser's obtained no affirmative relief as the matter was remanded with direction to the Trial Judge to explain his exercise of discretion. The Court denied Neis' reconsideration.

The Court remanded to the trial court to consider its denial of attorney fees to the Frasers and to enter more detailed finding on the Trial Court's decision to deny Fraser the award of attorney fees. The Appellate Court incorrectly concluded the Frasers prevailed on appeal and awarded the Frasers their attorney fees and cost on appeal against Woollett as equitable and just under RCW 7.28.083(3) and declined the Woolletts request for attorney fees and cost against the Frasers. Woollett seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision to find Frasers were the prevailing party on appeal and to award attorney fees on appeal.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The unpublished opinions by the Court of Appeals conflict with the Supreme Court decisions and published decisions by the Court of Appeals. Specifically, the Court of Appeals decision fails to properly apply existing law with regard to the prevailing party under RCW 7.28.083. Instead, the Court of Appeals ignored evidence supporting the Trial Court's exercise of discretion and substituted its own analysis of the evidence for that of the Trial Court. As a result, the Opinion should be reviewed and revised. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

B. Fraser Did Not Prevail On Appeal.

Fraser did not prevail on appeal. Therefore, their request for reconsideration should have be denied and the Court of Appeals decision violates Washington law since Fraser obtained no affirmative relief against Woollett on appeal. The identity of a substantially prevailing party depends on the relief obtained. <u>McLelland v. Paxton</u>, 11 Wn. App. 2nd 181, 222-23 (2019). Fraser and the Court of Appeals decision flipped the roles of the Courts by claiming that because the Court indicated Fraser prevailed on the adverse possession claim at trial that they should be awarded attorney fees on appeal. However, Fraser did not prevail on their appeal of fees or the other issues they raised. Fraser and the Court of Appeals ignored the procedural status of the case and the fact the Court did not overturn the Trial Court's proper exercise of discretion. The Trial Court already exercised its discretion and found that an award of attorney fees and costs would not be just and equitable – the decision in this case did not change that determination.

In terms of the appeal, Fraser did not substantively prevail as they did not obtain any of the relief they sought. The Court of Appeals confirmed RCW 7.28.083(3) does not create an entitlement to attorney fees. Instead, it is discretionary and requires a finding that an award of attorney fees and costs is just and equitable. **Fraser Assignment of Error #1.** The Court of Appeals confirmed the Trial Court did not err by refusing to find

the parcels in Lot 7 would be landlocked. Fraser Assignment of Error #2. The Court of Appeals found the Trial Court did not err by finding that RCW 7.28.083(3) was discretionary and required consideration of what would be just and equitable. Fraser Assignment of Error #3. Finally, the Court of Appeals did not find the Trial Court abused its discretion by finding that the award of fees would not be appropriate, equitable or just. Instead, the Court of Appeals simply remanded to have the Trial Court explain further the basis for its determination that an award would not be just. Fraser Assignment of Error #4. Fraser did not prevail on appeal by obtaining relief on a single assignment of error it raised. Therefore, Fraser was not the prevailing party on appeal, and finding otherwise when there was no affirmative relief obtained is a violation of existing precedence by the Court of Appeals.

In addition, it would not be just and equitable to award attorney fees on appeal where there was no relief awarded as it relates to Fraser and Woollett. The Court remanded to the Trial Court to obtain an additional explanation from the trial judge. Woollett should not be punished based on a remand. The identity of a substantially prevailing party depends on the relief obtained. <u>McLelland v. Paxton, 11 Wn. App. 2nd 181, 222-23 (2019)</u>. A "prevailing party," for purposes of award of attorney fees and costs, is the party who substantially prevailed on appeal. <u>Dragt</u> <u>v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC, 139 Wash. App. 560, 161 P.3d 473</u> (2007). If there is no substantially prevailing party on review, costs are not awarded to either party. RAP 14.2; Id.

Fraser's issue on appeal was the Trial Court's decision not to award Fraser attorney fees against Woollett stating Fraser was entitled to fees pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3). Fraser convinced the Court of Appeals to overlook and did not analyze the fact that Fraser did not prevail on the issue of fees on appeal. This Court affirmed that RCW 7.28.083(3) does not provide for an entitlement to attorney fees as a matter of right but instead provides the Trial Court with the discretionary authority to deny or award fees if in its discretion depending on whether the award would be just and equitable. Unpublished Opinion, p. 27, filed July 30, 2024. Further, this Court did not reverse the Trial Court's denial for Fraser's attorney fees but instead directed the Trial Court to put sufficient information in the findings of facts and conclusions of law for this Court to review whether or not discretion was properly exercised. Unpublished Opinion, p. 28. As a result, Fraser did not obtain any affirmative relief and it would be unjust to award fees merely because the Court found additional findings were required.

As a matter of law and fact, Fraser did not substantively prevail as they did not obtain any of the relief they sought. This Court confirmed RCW 7.28.083(3) does not create an entitlement to attorney fees. Unpublished Opinion, p. 27. The Court of Appeals did not find the Trial Court abused its discretion by finding that the award of fees would not be appropriate, equitable or just but simply remanded to have the Trial Court explain further the basis for its determination that an award would not be just. Unpublished Opinion, p. 28. Fraser did not obtain any affirmative relief and is not the prevailing party on appeal. Therefore, Fraser should not have been awarded their attorney fees and costs on appeal.

C. The Award Of Attorney Fees On Appeal Would Not Be Just Or Equitable.

Based on the history of the case and the actions of Fraser, an award against the Woolletts would not be just or equitable. This is because, the Trial Court did not err by exercising its discretion in deciding not to award attorney fees and costs pursuant to RCW 7.28.083. The Trial Court found "*attorney fees are not necessary or appropriate and would not be equitable or just in this case.*" CP 870.

Under RCW 7.28.083, a party is not entitled to attorney fees and costs unless "*the court determines such an award is equitable and just*." Here, the Trial Court specifically found that an award of fees and costs would not be just and equitable. This finding is supported by the facts surrounding the Frasers involvement in the case and the manner in which Woollett's adverse possession claim was improperly dismissed¹. The Trial Court properly found it would not be equitable or just to award fees to Fraser. A decision within the discretion of the Trial Court. The Opinion on appeal did not find otherwise, it simply remanded to obtain additional explanation on how the Trial Court arrived at the decision for exercising its discretion.

This was litigation started and maintained because of Neis and Fraser. Neis sued the Woolletts because Doug Fraser told her she couldn't build a garage on land he claimed to own. Based upon the decades of use, the Woolletts' prior counsel filed the adverse possession claim in an attempt to confirm the title to the area Ms. Neis claimed she thought she was buying. When that happened, both Neis and Fraser proceeded forward with litigation with the same lawyer who took a position on behalf of Fraser that was contrary to Neis' interests.

¹ Woollett still believe the dismissal was in err. However, given the Trial Court's proper decision not to award attorney fees and costs to Fraser, made the economic decision to try to get finality by withdrawing the appeal.

Further, Fraser did not file a motion claiming Woollett lacked standing until years of litigation had occurred. Instead, they forced litigation to continue and needlessly incurred attorney fees. Woollett tried to resolve this matter well before trial. This included requesting the parties mediate this dispute. That request was rejected by Mr. Montgomery. CP 707-710. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, the Trial Court alluded to this in finding attorney fees would not be just. "I think that at any time these parties could have done what the Court did." Opinion, p. 28. See also R.O.P. at 411. This refers to the fact Fraser litigated for two years without raising standing as an issue. The Third-Party Complaint was filed on May 2, 2019. It was not until September 10, 2021 that Fraser filed their Motion to Dismiss for lack of standing. As a result, it was not reasonable for Fraser to run up attorney fees for more than two years while waiting in the weeds with a motion claiming subject matter jurisdiction did not exist due to a lack of standing.

Not only did the facts surrounding how the lawsuit was litigated make it unjust to award fees, but there is also the fact that the Trial Court found the facts supporting all of the elements of adverse possession in favor of the Woollett. See CP 624 – 627.

Woollett established the retainage wall property was adversely possessed prior to and during their ownership of their former residence. The elements of adverse possession are: "(1)exclusive, (2) open and notorious, (3) hostile, and (4) actual and uninterrupted for the statutory period of 10-years." LeBleu v. Aalgaard, 193 Wash. App. 66, 79 (2016). The claimant's subjective belief regarding his or her true interest in the or intent to dispossess the land is irrelevant to the determination of adverse possession. Id. at 80. The "open and notorious requirement is met if (1) the true owner has actual notice of the adverse use throughout the statutory period, or (2) the claimant uses the land so that any reasonable person would assume the claimant is the owner." Id. at 81, citing, Chaplin

<u>v. Sanders</u>, 100 Wash.2d 853, 863, 676 P.2d 431 (1984). The hostile element is met where there is a showing that the claimant uses the land as if they were the owner. <u>Id.</u> at 82. "*In order to be exclusive for purposes of adverse possession, the claimant's possession need not be absolutely exclusive, but the possession must be of a type that would be expected of an owner under the circumstances.*" <u>Id</u>. The ultimate test for adverse possession exercised dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take." <u>Id</u>. at 83.

It is unjust and inequitable to award attorney fees on appeal where there was no relief awarded as it relates to either Fraser or Woollett. The Court of Appeals remanded to the Trial Court to obtain an additional explanation from the Trial Judge. Unpublished Opinion, p. 28. Woollett should not be punished based on a remand for further explanation of why the fees were denied. This means the prevailing party on appeal cannot be determined until after the Trial Court has provided its additional explanation and findings.

With the remand, it was premature and unjust to determine a substantially prevailing party on appeal until the Trial Court issues new findings of fact and conclusions of law. The just result would be to withhold or reserve any ruling on determining the prevailing party on appeal until after the Trial Court explains the basis for the exercise of its discretion. This is because while the Court of Appeals did remand for further clarification as to why the Trial Court used its discretion and did not award attorney fees, it did not reverse the Trial Court's discretion not to award them. There certainly was nothing Woollett did that resulted in the remand, and they should not be penalized for the Trial Court's scope of findings.

In <u>Bian</u>, the Court of Appeals reversed the award of attorney fees to Smirnova and remanded to the Trial Court to independently determine if the amount Smirnova requested was equitable and just. <u>Bian v. Smirnova</u>, 28 Wash. App. 2d 1049

(2023), <u>review denied</u>, 546 P.3d 85 (Wash. 2024) (citing <u>Bian v.</u> <u>Smirnova</u>, No. 81937-2-I, slip op. at 17 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 18, 2021)(unpublished opinion offered as persuasive authority)). In doing so, the Court of Appeals did not modify the fee award and remand was for the Trial Court to simply follow its mandate and authorized the Trial Court to exercise its discretion and determine what amount of Smirnova's fee request was equitable and just. On appeal Smirnova asked for attorney fees on appeal under RCW 7.28.083(3) as the prevailing party in an action asserting title to real property by adverse possession. Because both parties prevailed on appeal in part, the Court declined to award Smirnova attorney fees. <u>Id.</u>

Like <u>Bian</u>, Fraser and Woollett both prevailed on Fraser's appeal as the Court did not reverse the Trial Court's decision not to award Fraser attorney fees but instead remanded to the Trial Court to explain the Court's exercise of discretion as to why an award of the attorney fees and costs was not equitable and just.

Woollett substantially prevailed on appeal as Fraser only appealed the attorney fees and the Court of Appeals affirmed the Trial Court had discretion to award while merely remanding for clarification of the basis upon which the Trial Court denied fees. Fraser misled the Court of Appeals and the Court of Appeals misapprehended its award as it applied the basis for an award of fees to Fraser from Fraser prevailing on adverse possession, not the limited question of attorney fees which it did not prevail on. The appeal was not based on the adverse possession claim but limited to the award of attorney fees. Fraser should not be awarded their attorney fees and costs on appeal as it would be unjust to punish Woollett based on the Court of Appeal's decision that the Trial Court did not issue proper findings to explain its use of discretion.

Notably, the Court of Appeals also ignored that as to the underlying adverse possession claim, the Court found in its findings the facts and evidence supporting all the elements of adverse possession were met by Woollett. The Trial Court

dismissed based on standing. Fraser caused years of litigation by failing to bring the standing motion until shortly before trial instead of at the start of the case. This caused Fraser to effectively create its own prejudice by running up fees while not bringing the procedural motion for years. It was unjust and inequitable to award attorney fees on that basis.

Additionally, like the Trial Court, the Court of Appeals did not explain its finding that an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal to Fraser as just and equitable. This lack of explanation is the very reason the Trial Court's denial of Fraser's attorney fees and costs was remanded. After considering all of the facts on appeal, Fraser is not the substantially prevailing party and an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal are unjust and inequitable since the remand was due to the Trial Court's actions (not Woollett) and the ultimate issue was not decided so there has been no prevailing party on that issue on appeal. It's not just or fair to award fees against a private party for the Court's decision that it did not believe the Trial Court properly performed its job.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Woollett's respectfully request this Court accept review of the Division III Decision finding Fraser was the prevailing party on appeal and awarding attorney fees. Its decision directly conflicts with prior decision and precedent established by the Supreme Court.

This document contains 3,587 number of words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.