FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/5/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON **CLERK**

FILED Nov 07, 2024 **COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III** STATE OF WASHINGTON

	THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	Case #: 1038496
Case No	(number unknown)	

Court of Appeals of Washington, Division III Court of Appeals No. 388778 Consolidated with No. 390641

PAULA S. NEIS, Trustee of the DANIEL L. NEIS Revocable Trust; and GLORIA RAE FRASER,

Respondents for Discretionary Review

V.

HOWARD WOOLLETT and PETRIA WOOLLETT,

Petitioners for Discretionary Review

RESPONDENT GLORIA RAE FRASER'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MARTIN GALES, WSBA 14611 MARTIN GALES PLLC 4203 E 8th Ave Spokane, WA 99202-5222 509-535-3534

D. Argument
1. Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Is Not Warranted under the Facts and Law of this Case
2. Fraser Should be Awarded her Reasonable Attorney Fees in Opposing this Petition for Discretionary Review

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Barbee v. Barbee, 134 Wash. 418, 235 P. 945 (1925)
Bian v. Smirnova, No. 81937-2-1, Slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 18, 2021) 13
Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, 139 Wn. App. 560, 161 P.3d 473 (2007) 13-14
McLelland v. Paxton, 11 Wn. App. 2 nd 181, 453 P.3d 1 (2019) 13 -14
Twin W Owners Association v. Murphy, 26 Wn. App. 494, 529 P.3d 410 (2023)
Court Rules and Statutes
RAP 13.4(d) 5
RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) 11, 12, 13
RAP 18.1(j)5, 15
RCW 7.28.083(3) 5, 15

A. Designation of Responding Party

Gloria Rae Fraser, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of John Douglas Fraser, deceased (collectively "Fraser"), the appellant in Court of Appeals Case No. 390641, is the responding party.

B. Basis for Reply and Relief Sought

This reply is made pursuant to RAP 13.4(d) to the Petition for Review filed by Howard and Petria Wollett ("the Woolletts") on October 9, 2024. Fraser requests that the Petition be denied and that she be awarded her attorney fees herein by the Supreme Court pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3) and RAP 18.1(j).

C. Trial Court and Court of Appeals Decisions

The trial court issued two decisions concerning attorney fees relevant to this appeal. First, on March 31, 2022, the trial court dismissed the Woolletts' Third Party Complaint with

_

¹ John Douglas Fraser was named in the Third Party Complaint and testified at trial, but later passed away during post-trial proceedings. As his surviving spouse, Gloria is the personal representative of his estate.

prejudice, holding that Fraser was the prevailing party in the adverse possession action and awarding attorney fees to Fraser:

2. That the third party defendants John D Fraser and Gloria Rae Fraser are the prevailing parties in the Third Party action and are entitled to recover from the Woolletts their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in defending the quiet title action filed by the Woolletts.

(CP 617-19). Subsequently, on June 14, 2022, the trial court reversed its decision to award attorney fees to Fraser and awarded nothing to her, even though Fraser was the wholly prevailing party against the Woolletts:

IT IS ORDERED that Third Party Defendants Frasers Motion for an Award of Attorney Fees' and Cost is **DENIED.** The Court finds there is not an entitlement to attorney fees pursuant to RCW 7.28.083. Attorney fees are not necessary or appropriate and would not be equitable or just in this case.

CP 870-71. Fraser timely appealed. (CP 874-78.) The Woolletts initially appealed two trial court Orders of March 31, 2022 (CP 617-19) and (CP CP 613-16), but later abandoned their appeal and sought dismissal of it after the trial court's

second Order of June 14, 2022 (CP 870-71). (See, Court of Appeals letter ruling in Case No. 388788 dated July 28, 2022.)

The Court of Appeals issued an Unpublished Opinion on July 30, 2024, remanding the trial court's denial of attorney fees to Fraser because the trial court failed to give a reasoned analysis for denying attorney fees. The Court of Appeals found no basis in the record to affirm the trial court's exercise of discretion: "[W]e cannot tell from the record whether the court based its decision on tenable grounds." (See, Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24 at p. 28.) The Woolletts suggest that the Unpublished Opinion "did not change" the essence of the trial court's denial of attorney fees to Fraser:

The Trial Court already exercised its discretion and found that an award of attorney fees and costs would not be just and equitable – the decision in this case did not change that determination.

(<u>See</u>, Petition for Review at p. 7.) However, the remand provides the appellate relief Fraser requested by requiring the trial court to reconsider the whole issue of denying attorney fees

to Fraser as the prevailing party, and by instructing the trial court to determine whether trial court attorney fees should be awarded to Fraser:

Thus, we remand for the court to reconsider its denial of attorney fees to the Frasers and enter more detailed findings on whether or not to award attorney fees to the Frasers.

(Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24, pp. 28-29.)

The Court of Appeals noted that the Woolletts lacked standing to file a quiet title action for adverse possession and that the Third Party Complaint was unnecessary and was filed without possibility of success:

We note that the Woolletts added the Frasers as parties to this lawsuit in order to assert a separate claim of adverse possession against the Frasers. However, at the time the Frasers were added as third-party defendants, the Woolletts did not own the property and did not have standing to assert a claim for adverse possession. The Woolletts argue that their claim of adverse possession was really a defense to Neis' breach of contract claim. But the Woolletts could have raised a defense of adverse possession without filing a separate claim for which they had no standing and without adding the Frasers as a party.

(Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24 at p. 28.) The Woolletts did not prevail on any claims against Fraser and were granted no relief against her at trial. The Court of Appeals concurred with the trial court that Fraser was the prevailing party at trial. (See, Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24 at p. 27.) The Court of Appeals held that Fraser was correct that the trial court had failed to support its denial of attorney fees by a reasoned analysis and concluded that remand was necessary: "The [trial] court's oral ruling is vague and does not explain the reasons for its decision." (Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24 at p. 27.)

As to claims relating to their adverse possession defense against respondent Paula Neis, for some reason the Woolletts falsely claim they were successful at trial. (See, Petition for Review, pp. 2-5). The Woolletts argue that their Third Party Complaint was necessary because of the claims by Ms. Neis and that they proved their defense of adverse possession at trial. However, the Woolletts cite no findings by the trial court to support their allegation they had proved their adverse

possession defense against Ms. Neis – and none exist. To the absolute contrary, the trial court held against the Woolletts on the issue of adverse possession, finding that they had failed to identify any portion of the [right of way] easement area that was not subject to their claims (see, Findings of Fact No. 2 and No. 7, CP 613-16), and that they had failed to join indispensable parties (see, Finding of Fact No. 3, CP 613-16).

In their failed appellate opposition, the Woolletts vigorously opposed Fraser's appeal, argued against remand, and argued upon numerous grounds that the trial court's denial of attorney fees be affirmed and that the trial court's exercise of discretion be upheld. (See, Woolletts' appellate Response Brief, pp. 43-50.) Furthermore, the Woolletts sought and were denied appellate attorney fees against Fraser. (See, Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24 at p. 29.) Thus, all arguments on appeal against Fraser by the Woolletts were rejected and they obtained no relief. On the other hand, Fraser successfully argued that the trial court had failed to support its

denial of attorney fees by a reasoned analysis and were successful in obtaining a remand of the entire issue. The Court of Appeals therefore held that Fraser was the prevailing party on appeal and as such she was awarded appellate attorney fees pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3). (Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24, p. 29). The Woolletts filed for Reconsideration, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on September 10, 2024. The Woolletts then petitioned for review herein.

D. Argument

1. Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Is Not Warranted under the Facts and the Law of this Case.

The Woolletts seek discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). (See, Petition for Review, p. 7.) RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) provide as follows:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals...

In attempting to fall within the mandate of the above-quoted court rule, the Woolletts mischaracterize the record, misstate the facts, fail to support allegations of fact with citations to the record, and ultimately claim to have won the adverse possession case when they lost and then failed to appeal. The Woolletts contrive conflicts that do not exist with decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. The Woolletts attempt to evade and gloss over that Fraser was the wholly prevailing party against them both at trial and at the Court of Appeals.

Where both parties on appeal request attorney fees and one party is deemed as prevailing, the appellate court should award appellate attorney fees to the prevailing party. See, Twin W Owners Association v. Murphy, 26 Wn. App. 494, 515, 529 P.3d 410 (2023). Moreover, when a party files a lawsuit that as a matter of law cannot succeed, and where a court has discretionary power to award or deny attorney fees, the court

abuses its discretion when it fails to charge attorney fees against the losing party. *Barbee v. Barbee*, 134 Wash. 418, 423, 235 P. 945 (1925).

The Unpublished Opinion dated 7/30/24 does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals. The Woolletts submit only two cases that address issues relevant to the standards of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) for Supreme Court review. Those cases are *McLelland v. Paxton*, 11 Wn. App. 2nd 181, 222-23, 453 P.3d 1 (2019); and *Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC*, 139 Wash. App. 560, 161 P.3d 473 (2007). A third case submitted by the Woolletts is an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals that is inapplicable to the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(2).²

McLelland v. Paxton, supra, does not support the Woolletts' position. Rather, it confirms that attorney fees should be awarded to parties who prevail. <u>Id.</u> at 222-23. A prevailing party is one who receives affirmative relief in their

-

² Bian v. Smirnova, No. 81937-2-I, slip op. at 17 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 18, 2021).

favor. Cf., id. at 222. Here, Fraser wholly prevailed against the Woolletts at trial, and prevailed against the Woolletts on appeal by obtaining a remand of the case over their opposition. The Woolletts were unsuccessful in seeking to have the trial court's decision affirmed. The Woolletts were unsuccessful in obtaining appellate attorney fees against Fraser. Whatever future decision the trial court may make in regard to trial court attorney fees, the Woolletts have lost their case on appeal that the case should not be remanded. The Unpublished Opinion of July 30, 2024, does not conflict with *McClellan v. Paxton, supra.*

Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC, supra, also fails to support the Woolletts' position. Dragt simply holds that where neither party prevails on appeal, then neither party should be awarded attorney fees. Id., 139 Wash. App. at 578. Here, Fraser prevailed on appeal by obtaining a remand opposed by the Woolletts. The Unpublished Opinion of July 30, 2024, does not conflict with Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC, supra.

2. Fraser Should be Awarded her Reasonable Attorney Fees in Opposing this Petition for Discretionary Review.

As before the Court of Appeals, so also should Fraser be awarded her reasonable attorney fees pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3) and RAP 18.1(j) in opposing the Woolletts' petition for review.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 7th day of November, 2024.

This document contains 2,118 words, excluding parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

/s/MARTIN GALES, WSBA 14611
MARTIN GALES PLLC
4203 E 8th Ave
Spokane, WA 99202-5222
509-535-3534
mgales101@gmail.com
Co-Counsel for Appellant Fraser (Case No. 390641)

/s/JOHN MONTGOMERY, WSBA 7485 WALDO, SCHWEDA & MONTGOMERY, P.S. 2206 N. Pines Rd. Spokane Valley, WA 99206-4756 509-924-3686

jmontgomery@wsmattorneys.com

Counsel for Appellant Neis (Case No. 388778) Co-Counsel for Appellant Fraser (Case No. 390641)